FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/30/2020 4:24 PM
No. 53054-6-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/31/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

98349-6

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONALD SLOMA,

Petitioner

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Wayne L. Williams, WSBA #4145 Attorney for Petitioner

Williams, Wyckoff & Ostrander, PLLC P O Box 316 Olympia, Washington 98507 (360) 528.4800

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Donald Sloma asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. DECISION

The Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals,

Division II, filed on March 3, 2020, attached as Appendix A, hereto.

The Opinion affirmed a Final Order of the Department of

Retirement Systems (DRS) (Appendix B hereto). That Order

denied Mr. Sloma the right to base his Public Employees'

Retirement System, Plan 1¹ retirement benefit on his highest two

years of Average Final Compensation (AFC).²

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do RCW 41.40.191, RCW 41.40.023, RCW 41.40.037(3) and RCW 41.40.010(6), when liberally construed, give Mr. Sloma the right to have his second retirement based on the salary he earned after he rejoined PERS 1?
- 2. When Mr. Sloma rejoined PERS 1 membership and remained employed for three and one-half years, relying on

² RCW 41.40.010(6)(a)

Hereinafter PERS 1

written advice provided him by DRS, is DRS estopped from denying him the retirement benefit DRS advised him he would receive?

- 3. Was Mr. Sloma's election to utilize RCW 41.40.191 contrary to public policy and void by virtue of <u>Vallet v.</u> City of Seattle, 77 Wn.2d 12, 459 P.2d 407 (1969).
- 4. Can Mr. Sloma waive or abandon his constitutional right to return to service after retirement and base his second retirement on the salary earned after his return to membership, without knowing he had done so?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Sloma began this action to compel the Department of Retirement Systems (DRS) to calculate his pension, using the AFC from his last PERS 1 covered job. (A2, p. 12, Finding 45).

Mr. Sloma retired from PERS 1 covered state service in 2004.³ He was granted a Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) pension, of \$3,895.68 a month. (A2, p. 5, Finding 17). Over eight years later, on May 1, 2012, Mr. Sloma accepted a job with Thurston County. (A2, p. 8, Finding 30). At that time, he

³ Appendix 2, Final Order, p. 5, Finding 15. Future Final Order references will be referred to as A2, then page and finding or conclusion.

believed the higher salary of his County employment would enable him to rebase his PERS retirement, when he re-retired. (A2, pp. 7-8, Findings 2 & 3; A2, p. 8, Finding 31). DRS told him, in writing, that the calculation of his benefits when he re-retired, would use the higher County salary as his AFC. (A2, pp. 8-9, Finding 32). Mr. Sloma rejoined PERS membership an hour after receiving the DRS written advice. (A2, p. 9, Finding 34). Mr. Sloma stopped his social security benefits, repaid some benefits he had received and began contributing to PERS. (A2, p. 9, Finding 36).

In June or early July, 2015, DRS told Mr. Sloma, in telephone conversations, that his Thurston County salary would be used in the calculation of his new retirement benefit, which would be \$6,110.00 per month. (A2, pp. 9-10, Finding 38).

In early July 2015, DRS contacted Mr. Sloma and told him that instead, his retirement benefit would only be \$3,895.68 per month, a reduction of \$2,214.00. (A2, p. 1, Findings 39 and 40). DRS told Mr. Sloma he had given up his right to use the higher County salary back in 2004, because, when he first retired, he had made an irrevocable election, under RCW 41.40.191, to receive a pension calculated on his AFC at 30 years of service. (A2, pp. 10-11, Finding 41). Mr. Sloma had accepted the County position

believing the higher salary of his County position would be used to rebase his benefit when he retired later. (A2, p. 8, Finding 31).

Mr. Sloma's re-retirement, after three and one-half years of PERS covered work for Thurston County, was based on his 2004 AFC. (A2, p. 10, Finding 39).

Mr. Sloma appealed the DRS decision and sought benefits calculated on his Thurston County AFC. (A2, p. 12, Finding 45). DRS' Final Order granted DRS' Motion for Summary Judgment. (A2, p. 20, Conclusion). Mr. Sloma appealed to the Thurston County Superior Court, which affirmed the DRS Final Order. (Appendix C, hereto). The Court of Appeals also affirmed the DRS Final Order and Mr. Sloma is asking this Court to correct those decisions, and protect his pension rights.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case involves statutory interpretation and equity.

But, at its heart, is the question of the continued validity of this

Court's decision of Vallet v. City of Seattle, supra.

With the exception of Finding 10 (A2, pp. 7-8, Finding 10), which should be considered a Conclusion of Law, Mr. Sloma

agrees with the Findings of Fact, contained in the DRS Final Order.⁴

Since this Court sits in the same position as the Superior Court, in reviewing actions under the Administrative Procedure Act, no deference is given to lower court's decisions.

Thurston County v. W. Wash. Growth Management Hrg's Board, 164 Wn.2d 329, 190 P.3d 38 (2008).

The basis for reversing the Court of Appeals' decision and the DRS Order is contained in the Administrative Procedure Act at RCW 34.05.570(3) (Appendix D hereto):

(a) The order or the statute or rule on which the order is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions on its face or as applied. RCW 34.05.570(3)(a); (b) DRS has erroneously interpreted or applied the law. RCW 34.05.570(3)(d); (c) The DRS Order is inconsistent with DRS rules and especially WAC 415-108-710(6) and RCW 34.05.570(3)(i); and (d) DRS was estopped to deny Mr. Sloma the recalculation of his average final compensation. RCW 34.05.570(3)(d).

⁴ The factual findings, except Finding 10, are therefore verities on appeal. <u>Fuller v. Employment Security Department</u>, 52 Wn.App. 603, 762 P.2d 367 (1988).

1. PERS Statutes Support Mr. Sloma

This case requires harmonizing several confusing PERS statutes. If statutes appear to be in conflict, courts attempt to harmonize their respective provisions. <u>City of Pasco v.</u>

<u>Department of Retirement Systems</u>, 110 Wn.App. 582, 42 P.3d 992 (2002).

RCW 41.40.191 provides as follows:

A member may make the irrevocable election under this section no later than six months after attaining thirty years of service. The election shall become effective at the beginning of the calendar month following department receipt of employee notification.

- (1) The sum of member contributions made for periods of service after the effective date of the election plus seven and one-half percent interest shall be paid to the member <u>at retirement</u> without a reduction in the member's monthly retirement benefit as determined under RCW 41.40.185.
- (2) <u>Upon retirement</u>, the member's benefit shall be calculated using only the compensation earnable credited prior to the effective date of the member's election. Calculation of the member's average final compensation shall include eligible cash outs of sick and annual leave based on the member's salary and leave accumulations <u>at the time of retirement</u>, except that the amount of a member's average final compensation cannot be higher than if the member had not taken advantage of the election offered under this section.

(3) Members who have already earned thirty years of service credit prior to July 25, 1999, may participate in the election by notifying the department in writing of their intention by December 31, 1999.

The department shall continue to collect employer contributions as required in RCW 41.45.060.5

(Emphasis supplied).

RCW 41.40.191 was enacted by Chapter 362, 1999
Washington Laws 1999 Reg. Sess. The portion relating to PERS is
Section 2.6

We read RCW 41.40.191 as governing retirement for the first time, after one has made the RCW 41.40.191 election.

Once you make the election, it is irrevocable <u>until</u> you retire. There is no mention or suggestion of any effect beyond retirement. RCW 41.40.191 says nothing about what happens if you retire and then rejoin membership and subsequently re-retire. That situation is governed by other PERS statutes and a DRS rule.

RCW 41.40.023 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

⁵ If DRS' position is correct, it will, apparently receive a windfall of three and one-half vears of employer contributions.

⁶ Section 3 provided that certain members who received state-funded long-term care services would not be eligible for a cost of living increase, if that cost of living increase would make them ineligible for state-funded long-term care services. This section has no application to Mr. Sloma.

... reemployment in an eligible position, a retiree may elect to prospectively become a member of the retirement system if otherwise eligible;

When a retiree returns to PERS membership, RCW 41.40.037(3) provides that:

Such a member shall have the right to again retire if eligible in accordance with RCW <u>41.40.180</u>. However, if the right to retire is exercised to become effective before the member has rendered two uninterrupted years of service, <u>the retirement formula</u> and survivor options the member had at the time of the member's previous retirement shall be reinstated.

(Emphasis supplied)⁷

Mr. Sloma became a PERS member and employer and employee contributions were made on his behalf, during his employment with Thurston County. (A2, p. 9, Finding 35). The contributions were based upon a percentage of his new salary with Thurston County. Mr. Sloma rendered three and one-half years of service. (A2. p. 8, Finding 30; A2, p. 11, Finding 43). His re-retirement at a higher rate of pay would be consistent with that of every other retiree who elects to return to PERS 1 membership, pursuant to RCW 41.40.023(12). DRS suffers no harm if Mr. Sloma is allowed to rebase his ultimate re-retirement, and Mr. Sloma is greatly harmed if he is not allowed to do so.

⁷ DRS urges you to read this statute as if it began: "Except as provided in RCW 41.40.191."

Ms. Johnson, of PERS, advised Mr. Sloma she had researched and consulted with her team leader and other experienced retirement analysts. (A2, p. 8, Finding 32). She advised his re-retirement, after two years, would be based on his new AFC. She also advised Mr. Sloma of another "irrevocable" decision that can be changed after returning to PERS I for over two years and re-retiring. Her email to Mr. Sloma and to a representative of Thurston County said, in relevant part:

When a member retires they have to choose one of the four retirement options and this decision is an irrevocable decision. (Option #1 No Survivor, Option #2 Joint and 100% Survivor, Option #3 Joint and 50% Survivor or Option #4 Joint and 66.67% Survivor). The exception to this irrevocable decision is, 'if you go back to work and complete two or more years as a contributing member, you can retire again and select a new benefit option and/or survivor.' (Emphasis supplied). (CAR, Exhibit 7, p. 0153).

Ms. Johnson's statements were not *ultra vires*.

Modern case law has given the concept of *ultra vires* a very limited scope. Haslund v. City of Seattle, 86 Wn.2d 607, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976).

2. PERS Administrative Code Provision Supports Mr. Sloma

Mr. Sloma's re-retirement, at the higher rate, is also required by WAC 415-108-710(6)(b), which provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(b) If you reenter PERS membership and later choose to retire again, DRS will recalculate your retirement allowance under the applicable statutes and regulations.

3. No DRS Rules Or Publications Are Inconsistent With Mr. Sloma's Position

If DRS' interpretation of RCW 41.40.191 is correct, one would think that WAC 415-108-710(6)(b) or some other WAC provision would mention either RCW 41.40.191 or the 30-year election. However, a search of the Washington Administrative Code reveals no such mention. (A2, p. 18, Finding 19).

The most reasonable interpretation is that RCW 41.40.191 only affects a member's first retirement. Any ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the member of the system, pursuant to established case law.

4. Pension Statutes Are Liberally Construed In Favor Of System Members

In cases involving pensions, doubt should be resolved in favor of the party for whose benefit the pension statute was enacted. Bowen v. Statewide City Employees Retirement System, 72 Wn.2d 397, 433 P.2d 150 (1967); Hanson v. City of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 242, 493 P.2d 775 (1972). Clearly, the retirement system was enacted for Mr. Sloma and others covered by the Act and must be interpreted in their favor.

5. Denying Mr. Sloma A Recalculated AFC Is Unconstitutional

Article 1, Section 3 of the Washington Constitution prohibits enacting any law impairing the obligations of contracts.

The United States Constitution Article 1, Section 10, contains a similar prohibition. The courts defer to the legislature when a private contract is impaired, but are more stringent in their review when a state action impairs a public contract. Washington

Education Association v. Department of Retirement Systems, 181

Wn.2d 233, 242, 332 P.3d 439 (2014). Retired Public Employees

Council of Washington v. Charles, 148 Wn.2d 602, 623-624, 62

P.3d 470 (2003). The statutory interpretation urged by DRS is unconstitutional, as applied to Mr. Sloma.

Bakenhus v. Seattle, 48 Wn.2d 695, 296 P.2d (1956), adopted a contract doctrine applicable to pensions. In <u>Vallet v. City</u> of Seattle, supra, the Supreme Court held that if a pension system member elects to receive a pension benefit, less than that provided by law when the member was employed, the election is contrary to public policy and void. <u>Vallet, supra, pp. 16-17</u>.

The test to be applied to a pension statute is not its effect on all or most employees, but on the individual employee who has challenged the statute. <u>Dailey v. Seattle</u>, 54 Wn.2d 733, 738-739, 344 P.2d 718 (1959).

In Eagan v. Spellman, 90 Wn.2d 248, 581 P.2d 1038 (1978), the Supreme Court held that King County's attempt to change the mandatory retirement age from 70 to 65 was unconstitutional, as it affected Ms. Eagan, by reducing her average final compensation and providing no comparable new advantages to her. As support for its opinion, the Court cited with approval Donner v. New York City Employee's Retirement Sys., 33 N.Y. 2d 413, 353 N.Y.S. 2d 428, 308 N.E. 896 (1974).

DRS contends Mr. Sloma's RCW 41.40.191

⁸ 90 Wn.2d 255. That case held that the right to rejoin a retirement system, if rehired, is a retirement benefit.

election waived his right to re-retire using a higher AFC. DRS argues that, since the 30-year program involves a choice or election, it is constitutionally valid. This is incorrect. In <u>Vallet</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court noted:

We have previously held that a civil servant must be paid for his services the amount prescribed by law and that any agreement to accept a lesser sum is contrary to public policy and hence is void. Malcolm v. Yakima, Cy. Consol. School Dist. No. 90, 23 Wn.2d 80, 159 P.2d 394 (1945); Watkins v. Seattle, 2 Wn.2d 695, 99 P.2d 427(1940); Chatfield v. Seattle, 198 Wn.2d 179, 88 P.2d 582, 121 A.L.R. 1279 (1939), and cases cited therein at 186.

Vallet, supra, p.15.

The Supreme Court made that law equally applicable to pension payments due pensioners, under the laws of this state. <u>Vallet</u>, <u>supra</u>, pp. 15-16. Mr. Sloma could not constitutionally agree to abandon his right to return to PERS employment and rebase, unless what he received in exchange was "reasonable and equitable." <u>Vallet</u>, <u>supra</u>, pp. 20-21.

If RCW 41.40.191 were limited to freezing the AFC, of a first retirement, with the ability to receive a refund of contributions plus seven and one-half percent interest, the refund might be a compensating advantage. However, if the disadvantage is that one can never re-retire from PERS membership, based on returning to

service with a higher AFC, in the face of specific statutes that state that the member can do exactly that, then the disadvantage clearly outweighs the advantage. This is especially true as applied to Mr. Sloma, whose re-retirement benefits would be reduced by \$2,214.00 each month, for life. All in exchange for the \$920.60 that he received, in 2004, as a refund of his contributions and interest.⁹ There was no reasonable and equitable exchange.

Courts should avoid reaching a constitutional issue where they are able to decide a case on non-constitutional grounds. State v. Smith, 104 Wn.2d 497, 505, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985); Brunson v. Pierce County, 149 Wn.App. 855, 205 P.3d 963 (2009). We have offered a perfectly reasonable statutory interpretation which avoids unconstitutionality.

Mr. Sloma's Pension Rights Were Not Waived

If Mr. Sloma could elect to waive his constitutional right to re-retire with a higher AFC, what test should be used to determine the validity of the election? In other contexts, the Supreme Court has held that waiver of constitutional rights will not be presumed, but must be made voluntarily, knowingly and

⁹ DRS kept the employer contributions. If equity requires, Mr. Sloma is quite willing to repay DRS the \$920.60, plus interest, over the intervening years.

intelligently. <u>In re Matter of James</u>, 96 Wn.2d 847, 851, 640 P.2d 18 (1982). That was certainly not the case for Mr. Sloma.

election, from the contract point of view, then for a contract modification to be valid, there must be a meeting of the minds.

Sea-Van Inv. Assoc. v. Hamilton, 125 Wn.2d 120, 126, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994). The parties have to agree to the essential terms of the contract. Westcoast Airlines, Inc. v. Miner's Aircraft and Engine Serv., Inc., 66 Wn.2d 513, 403 P.2d 833 (1965).

Where DRS is arguing the existence of a modification to Mr. Sloma's pension contract, the burden is upon DRS to prove each essential fact, including mutual intention. Johnson v. Nasi, 50 Wn.2d 87, 91, 309 P.2d 380 (1957).

We know precisely what Mr. Sloma thought at the time he signed the election, and there was no intention to affect reretirement rights.

He saw the election as simply a way to obtain a refund of a few months' PERS employee contributions. He does not recall discussing any other effect of the post-30-year election with anyone, or receiving any advice that his choice could affect his benefit after future re-employment. He noticed the 'irrevocable election' language, but since he was planning to retire in the immediate future, he thought

it only might bar him from buying back service credit or salary for the months between his 30-year-service anniversary and his retirement (in the past he had withdrawn PERS contributions, then later restored (bought back) the lost service credit by restoring the withdrawn contributions). (A2, p.5, Finding 15).

6. Estoppel Prevents Denying Mr. Sloma A Recalculated AFC

The Supreme Court has held that the State must not expect more favorable treatment than is fair between men and women, and that "the state, in its dealings with individuals, should be held to 'resolute good faith.'" State ex rel. Washington Pav. Co. v. Clausen, 90 Wash. 450, 452, 156 Pac. 554 (1916).

Estoppel has been applied against DRS. For example, in <u>Hitchcock v. Washington State Department of Retirement Systems</u>, 39 Wn.App. 67, 692 P.2d 834 (1984) Mr. Hitchcock challenged DRS' determination that transportation and local expenses would not be included in his average final compensation.

The court overturned DRS, explaining:

The Department's authority to determine earnable compensation, however, could not impinge upon a contractual relationship with the employee which creates the expectation of deferred benefits. See <u>Washington Fed'n of State Employees, Coun. 28 v. State</u>, 101 Wn.2d 536, 541, 682 P.2d 869 (1984) (reviewing cases). Such a relationship may arise by estoppel. That

doctrine is employed to prevent a manifest injustice where there has been an admission, statement, or act which has been relied upon to the employee's injury because of an inconsistent claim thereafter asserted. <u>Beggs v. Pasco</u>, 93 Wn.2d 682, 689, 611 P.2d 1252 (1980).

In West v. Social & Health Services, 21 Wn.App. 577,

579, 586 P.2d 516 (1978), the court described the three elements of estoppel as:

- (1) an admission, statement, or act inconsistent with the claim afterwards asserted, [Ms. Johnson's statements and email]
- (2) action by the other party on the faith of such admission, statement, or act, and [Mr. Sloma rejoining PERS]
- (3) injury to such other party resulting from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such admission, statement, or act. [The loss of \$2,214.00 per month, for life] West v. Social & Health Services, Supra, at 579.

Promissory estoppel can be used affirmatively.

Chemical Bank v. WPPSS, 102 Wn.2d 874, 691 P.2d 524 (1984),

said. The Court said:

Unlike its British equivalent, however, the Restatement does not limit promissory estoppel to use as defense. Nor has Washington's case law done so. See Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 255, 616 P.2d 644 (1980).

Chemical Bank, supra, p. 901.

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