FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/29/2020 1:16 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98349-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONALD SLOMA,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Nam Nguyen, WSBA No. 47402 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will only grant review if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or a published Court of Appeals decision, involves a significant question of constitutional law, or raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Mr. Sloma's Petition fails to argue that this case meets any of these requirements.

The Court of Appeals here engaged in a careful review of the relevant retirement statutes and applied their plain language. Mr. Sloma attempts to read into these statutes an exception, for "second" retirements, that is not supported by the statutory language or any case law.

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Mr. Sloma's equitable estoppel claim, as a party cannot raise equitable estoppel as a cause of action. In addition, the Court correctly rejected Mr. Sloma's promissory estoppel claim for failing to meet the necessary elements. As for his constitutional claim, the Court correctly held that, because the Program provided PERS 1 members with an option, it is not an impairment of contract. These holdings are based on longstanding precedent, and

Mr. Sloma fails to cite any conflicting decision.

Additionally, Mr. Sloma does not contend that this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Indeed, this case only affects a small number of PERS 1 members, those who enrolled in the Program, retired, and then returned to a PERS-eligible position.

A. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of the Relevant Statutes Does Not Conflict with Any Decision by this Court or the Other Divisions

Mr. Sloma fails to show that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the relevant statutes conflicts with any existing precedent or rule of statutory interpretation to warrant review under RAP 13.4. When interpreting a statute, the objective is to ascertain and give effect to the Legislature's intent. *Lenander v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 186 Wn.2d 393, 405, 377 P.3d 199 (2016). "[I]f the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Darkenwald v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 183 Wn.2d 237, 244, 350 P.3d 647 (2015) (quoting *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). Here, the Court of Appeals followed these established rules in holding that the plain meaning of the statute governing the Program, RCW 41.40.191, is unambiguous in barring the Department from calculating Mr. Sloma's AFC to include compensation from Thurston County.

RCW 41.40.191 states that "[a PERS 1] member may make the irrevocable election under this section no later than six months after attaining thirty years of service." RCW 41.40.191(2) then states that "[u]pon retirement, the member's benefit shall be calculated using only the compensation earnable credited prior to the effective date of the member's election."

Mr. Sloma elected into the Program in 2004. He later retired the same year and the Department refunded his post-30 contributions. The Department then calculated his AFC to include only the compensation he earned before he elected into the Program.

Mr. Sloma argues that this restriction does not apply to his retirement from Thurston County, his "second" retirement. But instead of citing any cases that conflict with the Court of Appeals' statutory analysis, Mr. Sloma argues that an ambiguity exists because statutes governing retired PERS 1 members who return to PERS employment and then retired (RCW 41.40.023, RCW 41.40.037(3), and RCW 41.40.010(6)(a)) do not address the Program. As the Court of Appeals' analysis is consistent with precedent from this Court and the other divisions, this argument is not a basis for granting review.

11

Mr. Sloma's ambiguity argument fails as a matter of law as well. Courts should read statutes as complementary, rather than in conflict with each other." *Waste Mgmt. of Seattle, Inc. v. Util. & Transp. Comm'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 630, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994). RCW 41.40.023, RCW 41.40.037(3), RCW 41.40.010(6)(a), and RCW 41.40.191 are complementary, addressing distinct aspects in the sequence of retiring and subsequently returning to membership.

RCW 41.40.023 governs eligibility for PERS membership. RCW 41.40.023(12) allows a retired PERS member to re-establish membership if the member returns to a PERS eligible position. RCW 41.40.037(3) then governs how membership benefits are calculated for a PERS 1 member that has re-established membership. The Court of Appeals was, therefore, correct in holding that these statutes do not conflict with RCW 41.40.191, which governs PERS 1 members who elected into the Program. They do not require harmonization, and simply govern different subject matters.

Mr. Sloma's argument that the Department regulation on benefit calculation for PERS members' second retirements, WAC 415-108-710(6)(b), creates an ambiguity by not mentioning the Program, also fails. Pet. Review at 10. The argument is not based on any existing precedent or established rule of statutory interpretation, and thus no conflict exists. The

12

Court of Appeals correctly rejected it because "if statutory language is plain on its face, as it is here, we [courts] will not reach or consider agency interpretation of the statute." *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 404 (citing *Bostain v. Food Express, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 700, 715-16, 153 P.3d 846 (2007)). "If anything, the silence of agency rules on RCW 41.40.191's application suggests that the legislature's intent in RCW 41.40.191 is clear on its face." *Id.* Therefore, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the relevant statutes is consistent with precedent of this Court and the other divisions.

B. The Court of Appeals Rejected Mr. Sloma's Equitable Estoppel Claim Under the Principle, Employed by this Court and the Other Divisions, that Such Claim is Not Available as a "Sword, or Cause of Action"

Mr. Sloma fails to show that the Court of Appeals' ruling on his estoppel claim conflicts with any decision by this Court or the other divisions as to warrant review under RAP 13.4. Instead, he conflates equitable with promissory estoppel by arguing that the two are essentially the same claim. Pet. Review at 18. While these claims are related, each has different requirements. *See Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d 255, 259, 616 P.2d 644 (1980).

This Court has long held that equitable estoppel is "available only as a 'shield' or defense, while promissory estoppel can be used as a 'sword' in a cause of action for damages." *Id.* All three divisions of the Court of Appeals have applied this principle on equitable estoppel to cases in which a party invokes equitable estoppel against the government. *See McCormick v. Lake Wash. Sch. Dist.*, 99 Wn. App. 107, 992 P.2d 511 (1999) (Division I); *Motley-Motley, Inc. v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 127 Wn. App. 62, 110 P.3d 812 (2005) (Division III).

Here, the Court of Appeals followed its recent decision in rejecting Mr. Sloma's equitable estoppel claim. *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 406 (citing *Byrd v. Pierce Cty.*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 249, 257-58, 425 P.3d 948, 952 (2018)). The Court explained, Mr. Sloma "misplaces his reliance on the equitable estoppel doctrine by attempting to use it as a sword to compel DRS to recalculate his AFC based on the compensation he earned after he made his irrevocable election under RCW 41.40.191." *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 406.

Mr. Sloma does not dispute that he invoked estoppel as a "sword, or cause of action," and not as a defense. Instead, he contends that a party may generally invoke estoppel, not specifying whether it is equitable or promissory, against the Department. Pet. Review at 16 (citing *Hitchcock v*. *Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 39 Wn. App. 67, 73, 692 P.2d 834 (1984)). *Hitchcock* does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. In *Hitchcock*, the Court of Appeals (Division III) applied equitable estoppel to require that the Department count fringe benefits as compensation earnable, because counting such benefits as compensation earnable was

14

not "contrary to the retirement statute."⁴ *Hitchcock*, 39 Wn. App. at 73. Like the Court of Appeals here, the *Hitchcock* opinion explicitly recognized that a party may not invoke equitable estoppel to obtain a benefit contrary to statute. *Id.* But in that case, the Court found that the Legislature had intended for fringe benefits to count as compensation earnable. *Id.* at 73-74 ("[i]t is true estoppel will not be applied to frustrate the clear purpose of state laws").

This case is different because the Court of Appeals held that the Department cannot, under the statute, calculate Mr. Sloma's AFC to include compensation from Thurston County. Therefore, Mr. Sloma cannot invoke equitable estoppel to force the Department to do so. The Court of Appeals' conclusion to that effect does not create a conflict.

C. The Court of Appeals Rejected Mr. Sloma's Promissory Estoppel Claim Under the Established Principle, Employed by this Court and the Other Divisions, That Such Claim Requires a Clear and Definite Promise

Mr. Sloma also fails to show how the Court of Appeals' application of promissory estoppel conflicts with a decision by this Court or the other divisions. *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 406. Chiefly, the Court rejected

⁴ While the majority opinion in *Hitchcock* did not state that it was addressing equitable estoppel, the dissenting opinion states that the issue before the Court was equitable, not promissory, estoppel. *Hitchcock*, 39 Wn. App. at 78.

his promissory estoppel claim for not meeting the requirement of having "a clear and definite promise." *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 173, 876 P.2d 435 (1994); *see also e.g. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 181 Wn.2d 212, 225, 332 P.3d 428 (2014).

Mr. Sloma does not assert that anyone from the Department made a "clear and definite" promise to calculate his AFC to include compensation from Thurston County. He does not cite a case, and none exists, that applied promissory estoppel without this threshold requirement. Pet. Review at 9-11. This alone warrants rejection of Mr. Sloma's promissory estoppel claim.

Further, Mr. Sloma's promissory estoppel claim "fails because he cannot show that he changed his position in reliance" on a promise made by the Department.⁵ *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 406-07. Equitable estoppel has the same reliance requirement.⁶ The Court of Appeals found that he could not have relied upon the promise because "[t]he e-mails Sloma relies on

⁵ The requirements to establish promissory estoppel are: "(1) [a] promise which (2) the promisor should reasonably expect to cause the promisee to change his position and (3) which does cause the promisee to change his position (4) justifiably relying upon the promise, in such a manner that (5) injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise." *Wash. Educ. Ass'n*, 181 Wn.2d at 225.

⁶ To establish equitable estoppel, a party must prove by "clear, cogent, and convincing evidence" that: "(1) a statement, admission, or act by the party to be estopped, which is inconsistent with its later claims, (2) the asserting party acted in reliance upon the statement or action, (3) injury would result to the asserting party if the other party were allowed to repudiate its prior statement or action, (4) estoppel is 'necessary to prevent a manifest injustice,' and (5) estoppel will not impair governmental functions." *Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 159 Wn.2d 868, 887, 154 P.3d 891 (2007).

occurred on May 4 and 8. But his appointment to the Thurston County position was confirmed on April 12, and his first day of work was May 1." *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 407. Here, Mr. Sloma fails to address the timing issue of his estoppel claim, only stating that his reliance was "reasonable, since he spoke to the person at DRS who was trained and assigned to answer the type of question he asked." Pet. Review at 18. However, there is no precedent for allowing a party to establish reliance when the party could not have relied. Promissory estoppel clearly requires that the promise that serves as the basis of the estoppel claim actually "cause[s] the promisee to change his position." *Wash. Educ. Ass 'n*, 181 Wn.2d at 225.

Therefore, the Courts of Appeals' holding that Mr. Sloma cannot establish equitable or promissory estoppel is consistent with existing precedent by this Court and the other divisions.⁷

D. The Court of Appeals' Ruling on the Impaired Contract Claim Does Not Raise a Substantial Constitutional Question Because It Follows Settled Law

Mr. Sloma's only constitutional issue presented for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), the application of *Bakenhus v. City of Seattle*, 48 Wn.2d 695, 296 P.2d 536 (1956), also fails. Pet. Review at 11-16. This issue does not raise "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State

⁷ The Court of Appeals did not address every promissory and equitable estoppel element that Mr. Sloma failed to establish. The Department's brief shows that Mr. Sloma would also fail to establish the other elements as well. Br. Resp't at 23-34.

of Washington" warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the Court of Appeals correctly applied *Bakenhus* and its progeny.

Bakenhus set forth the principle that public pension plans form contractual obligations between the State and the plans' members. *Bakenhus*, 48 Wn.2d at 699. Article I, section 23 of the Washington Constitution prevents the State from impairing these obligations. The test to determine whether there was an unconstitutional impairment is: (1) whether a contractual relationship exists, (2) whether the legislation substantially impairs the contractual relationship, and (3) if there is substantial impairment, whether the impairment is reasonable and necessary to serve a legitimate public purpose. *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 405 (citing *Lenander*, 186 Wn.2d at 414).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this test to hold that the Program, as applied to Mr. Sloma, was not an impairment (the second part of the test) because the Program provided Mr. Sloma with an option. *Sloma*, 459 P.3d at 405 (finding that "RCW 41.40.191 does not require members to elect into the program; nor does it prevent members from reentering PERS membership after retirement"). Mr. Sloma took that option; he took advantage of both its benefit, a refund of post-30 contributions, and agreed to accept the detriment, having his AFC calculated based only on compensation earned before he elected into the

18

Program. Thus, as the Court put it, it was not RCW 41.40.191 that lead to his receiving a lower benefit, it was his decision to elect into the Program. *Id.* (holding "Sloma's decision to elect into the post-30-year program ultimately resulted in a lower retirement benefit than if he had not elected does not render RCW 41.40.191 unconstitutional").

Mr. Sloma's argument that the Program unconstitutionally forced him to waive his pension right to re-retire using a higher AFC lacks merit. There is no evidence in the record suggesting any coercion with respect to his election. That he may not have foreseen the full ramification of his decision to enroll into the Program at the time does not render it coerced or establish an unconstitutional impairment of contract.

He also argues that the detriments to him from enrolling into the Program far outweigh the benefits, Pet. Review at 13-14, but this argument fails because the Program provided an optional benefit. No decision by this Court or the other divisions suggests that the State Constitution protects public pension plan members from making the wrong decision. The Program allowed Mr. Sloma to make a rational calculation. At the time, near the end of his career, he logically thought that he would gain more from the contributions refund than from having his AFC calculated using post-30 compensation. Thus, by electing into the Program, Mr. Sloma did not waive a pension right. The Program gave him the option to receive a contributions refund in exchange for fixing his AFC. The State Constitution does not protect him from failing to contemplate the full ramification of this decision, or from failing to predict he would earn more from not exercising this right.

Therefore, there is no significant question of law under the State Constitution on whether the Program, as applied to Mr. Sloma, is an unconstitutional impairment of contract. The Court should reject Mr. Sloma's Petition for Review on this basis as well.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Sloma fails to demonstrate that this case warrants review under RAP 13.4(b). The Department did not err in concluding that RCW 41.40.191 prevents it from recalculating his AFC. There is no conflict, issue of substantial public importance, or constitutional basis to grant Mr. Sloma's Petition, and thus this Court should deny review.